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work than was actually the case. The session was extremely successful, the
classes large, and especial efforts were made to give the best possible courses
of instruction. The commencement exercises were held March 22, 1897, and
were of unusual interest.

We append a list of graduates from the first year of this decade until the
consolidation.

HOMOEOPATHIC HOSPITAL COLLEGE:

1890-1891—A. E. Chamberiain, R. S. Evelyn, T. F. Hogue, Lucy S.
é{ertzog, Thad. L. Johnscn, J. . McAfee, J. E. Rowland, Augustus B.
mith

1891-18g2—M. Margaret Hassler-Schantz, G. G. Frost, E. P. Banning,
Margaret G. Darby, C. £ Bates, Phillip T. Johnson, R. E. Pond, O. C.
Standrsh W. E. Pr\m C. I. Moore, H. R. Hawkins, W. C. Hodges, Chas. L.
Gangloff, G. B. btuwcou George B. Haggart, L. I Mong, V. P. English,
Adah M. Rowland, 5. B. Sabin.

CLEVELAND UNIVERSITY OF MEDICINE AND SURGERY.

1892-1893—LErnest O. Adams, G. E. Bishop, H. J. Cranmer, J. B. Clif-
ford, F. C. Dennison, Cora D. Fenton, Alice J. Gillespie-Allen, Mary E.
Heston, L. L. Jones, Thos. M. Lanahan, Mary F. Lemmon, Eleanore G.
Lennox, I.. L. Laronge. J. E. Menroe, J. H. Myers, A. D. McElroy, ‘Percy L.
Prentiss, Henry Primm, Carl H. Rust, E. E. Richardson, Rose R. Robinson,
Nina M. Stevens, Melissa Sayles, J. B. Woodworth, Elizabeth Young-Taylor,
Bessie Schultze.

1893-1894—-0. S. Allen, C. F. Baker, Carina B, C. Banning, I. M. Beatty,
F. D. Bishop, Hiram Brown, May M. Brown, W. C. Crouch, Chas. H. Cushin,
Anna J. Erskine, G. J. Gray, Sara A. Gray, G. L. Gridley, F. W. Judson,
E. A. Licht, C, IT McLaughlin, H. G. Pyle, W. H. Pulford, T. W. Ransom,
F. O. Reeve, A, R1(1eout R. V. Saint, Dudle\ Smith, Ada F. Slick, W. F.
Steadman, M. B. fodo S. R. Walker, C. C. Williams, Ira L. W}ant H.. €.
Zimmer]y.

1894-1895—D. H. Braden, Alice L. Bishop, D. J. Close, J. G. Colton,
H. Olivia Corell, H. D. Cox, Anna R. Cooper, E. ]J. Cauffield, G. D. Cameron,
L. E. Casey, Mary E. Cruise, J. H. Davis, F. F. Finch, E. B. Guile, C. W.
GGinn, Abilla J. Fisher, Sarah P. Gaston, L. W. Hilliard, C. W. Johnson, Wm.
Koch, E. B. Kaple, Sarah A. Kroll, C. R. Luton, F. B. Livermore, W. L.
Laser, W. H. Merriam, C. A, Marquart, W. D. Meyer, Wm. A. Mansfield,
C. L. Moser, Ida B. Peffers, J. H. Quayle, H. H. Smith, R. S. Snyder, R. W.
Thornburg, Emma A. Van Buren, Jane C. VanHyning, E. S. Wright, C. H.
Young. :
1895-1896—F. P. Ames, L. M. Andrews, C. A. Bingham, Clara M.
Benson, W. C. Cross, J. R. Cox, Eva E. Correll, J. L. Cowden, S. E. Deeley,

F. F. Davis, L. C. Ellis, J. T. Frawley, J. E. Gaston, L. T. Gill, Edith R.

Hornberger, Mary G. Hunter, Ellen F. Hawkins, C. J. Huyck, H. W. James,
Dale M. King, E. J. Koontz, J. D. Kaple, D. L. Mohn, A. H. Martin, J. H.
McBride, C. E. Merrill, N. T. B. Nobles, W. W. Osgood, H. J. O’Donnell,
Rose A. Ralston, F. A. Russell, E. W. Riemenschnedier, L. E. Siemon, H. F.
Staples, G. B, Smith, W. F. Steer, T. H. Tubman, R. O. Totten, A. Von
Fried, T. C. Wallace, Jr., F. C. Watson, C. G. Webster, G. T. York, J. W.
Young, Tsa Teed- Cranniton.

1896-1897—F. E. Bard, F. D. Brown, R. A Brugger, Ola M. Buckman,
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Emily Blakeslee; F. A. Clapsadel, Chas. E. Clobridge, L. P. Conley, Edgar C.
Cowles, F. J. Edmonds, G. T. Fh Chas. P. Gedde% J. C. Gilfillan, Edward
Grove, . S. Haggart, Adda T. Hedges Brady, Edward H. Hermann Ed-

ward J. Hill, J. H. Johnson, H. A, Keep, W. H. Kennedv, E. E. Lamb, Ella M.

Larmnce, F. H. Latimer, George T. Leeds, Fred L. Lewis, Martha A. McBrxde
T \Iﬂler W. C. E. Nobles, E, 1. Osgood, N. G. Parker, Fred W. Peck,
H. L. Proutv W. J. Renwick, D. W. Roberts, George ]J. Roberts, J. T. .
Schlesselman, H. W. Shaffer, Amv L. Silvieus, A. B. Smlth Mabelle G A
Spaulding VVa*son Clayton E. Spire, E. A. Stanley,] C. Steel, Jr.,

Swan, G. H. Wilkinson, G. H. Williamson, Edward A. Willis, D.'M. ’Win-
gate, Mara L. Wingate, Marcus Zophie. ;

The governing faculty of the Cleveland Homeeopathic Medical College,
which came into actual corporate existence through action of the board of
trustees October 2, 1897, consisted of the majority of the members of the
faculties of both the university and the Cleveland Medical College, which
latter institution by the above action went out of existence on that date. The
names and the chairs occupied are as follows:

Hon. Henry C. White, professor of medical jurisprudence.

G. J. Jones, M. D., professor. of theory and practice of medicine.
C. C. True, M. D., professor of theory and practice of medicine.
G. E. Turrill, M. D., professor of physical diagnosis.

J. Richey Horner, M. D., professor of neurclogy.

H. D. Champlin, M. D., professor of neurology

H. H. Baxter, M. D., professor of materia medica,

" Frank Kraft, M. D., professor of materia medica.

Wm. T. Miller, M. D., professor of surgery.

H. L. Frost, M. D., professor of surgery.

Wm. E. Wells, M. D., professor of diseases of the rectum.
Kent B. Waite, M. D., professor of genito-urinary diseases.

G. W. Spencer, M. D., professor of dermatology.

W. A. Tims, M. D., professor of anatomy.

James C. Wood, M. D., professor of gynecology.

J. Kent Sanders, M. D., professor of gynecology. :

B. B. Viets, M. D,, profes%or of ophthalmolorr\ and otology.
‘W. A. Phillips, M. D professor of ophthalmology and 0tolog3
G. W. Spencer, M. D., professrtr of physiology.

H. Pomeroy, M. D., professor of obstetrics.

E. H. Jewitt, M. D., professor of obstetrics.

A. T. Baldinger, M. D., prefesscr of clinical obstetrics.

G. H. Quay, M. D., professor of rhinology and laryngology.

F. L. Crobaugh, professor of chemistry.

Hudson D. Bishop, M. D., professor of dietetrics.

Eliza J. Merrick, M. D., professor of pediatrics.

As might 'be expected the class was a very large one, numbering more
than two hundred students, and the graduating class was the largest one in
the history of the college. The years following noted an upward progtress
from an educational standpoint, which was as marked as the retrograde move-
ment from the standpoint of the number of students. There were but few
changes in the faculty, the majority of the professors holding over from one
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vear to another, with comparatively little change in their assignment of duty.

« For two years following the consolidation Prof. W. A. Phillips, who had
been dean of the university, acted as dean of the college, while Prof. Gaius J.
Jones, former dean of the Cleveland Medical College, acted as vice-dean of
the new college. At the end of the second year Prof. Phillips declined a re-
election, and Prof. Jones was given the leadership of the new college. This
he has retained until the present day. Prof. Pomeroy retained the treasurer-
ship, with Dr. R. G. Baird as deputy, for two years, followed by Prof. A. L.
Waltz for one vear. Prof. Waltz was then elected treasurer, serving for
several years, being followed by Prof. B. B. Viets for a few months, he in
turn being followed by Prof. B. B. Kimmel, who retains the office at the pres-
ent time. :

Frof. Phillips retained the vice-deanship, being succeeded by Prof. H. L.
Frost, who in turn gave way in 1905 to Prof. George H. Quay. Prof. C. C.
True was registrar for the first two sessions after the combination, heing fol-
lowed by Prof. J. Richey Horner for two vears, Prof. A. B. Schneider for the
next two years, the office being again given to Prof. J. Richey Horner for the
sessions of 1903-1904 and 1904-1905, he being succeeded in 1905 by Prof.
W. T. Miller.

As we noted, the class steadily decreased in number, dropping from
nearly two hundred the first year of the combined college to fifty-six, which
was the number. in attendance during the session of 19o4-1905. The chief
causes for this retrograde wete the advance in the requirements for matricu-
lation and the adoption of the four years’ graded course, both of which
causes prevented hundreds of students from entering upon the course of
study. The requirements of the present day demand that a student shall
have a degree in science or letters, a four years’ high school course, which
includes at least two years’ Latin, or a permanent teacher’s certificate. In
lieu of these, he must pass an examination held by agents of the state board of
medical registration, this examination being such as to tax the knowledge of
the applicant up to the standard of a four years’ high school course. Whereas
formerly advanced standing was given for a degree in dentistry, veterinary
surgery and pharmacy this is not now permitted, only one year being given
for the degree of A. B. or B. S.

The faculty announced for the session of 1905-1906 is as follows:

John C. Sanders, A. M., M. D., LL.D., emeritus professor of obstetrics.

Thomas P. Wilson, M. D., emeritus professor of physiology.

David H. Beckwith, M. D., emeritus professor of sanitary science.

(Gaius J. Jones, M. D., professor of the theory and practice of medicine,
clinical medicine and differential diagnosis.

George W. Spencer, M. D., professor of physiology and dermatology.

J. Richey Horner, A. M., M. D., prafessor of neurology.

A. B. Schneider, M. D., professor of the theory and practice of medicine,
physical diagnosis and clinical medicine.

E. O. Adams, M. D., professor of the theory and practice of medicine
and clinical medicine. :

G. W. Gurnee, A. M., M. D,, professor of the theory and practice of
medicine. :

R. J. Cummer, M. D., professor of pediatrics.

Herbert L. Frost, A. B., M. D., professor of surgery and clinical surgery.

William' T. Miiler, M. D., professor of surgery and clinical surgery.
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Hudson D. Bishop, M. D., professor of sur
rectal and genito-urinary surgery.

W Tre M. 1 fes ini
surgc;\- E. Trego, M. D., professor of surgery and clinical professor of minor
ry. ;

gery and clinical professor of

_Ng:wman T. B. Nobles, M. D., professor of surgery and diseases of hones
and joints. =
J. A. Lytle, M. D., professor of genito-urinary and rectal diseases and
fractures- and dislocations. ;
Benjamin B. Kimmel, M. D., professor of surgical anatomy, and lecturer
on minor surgery, - =
J)ames E Wood, A. M., M. D., professor of surgical gynecology.
P, B Roperr, M. D, professor of medical and clinical gynecology.
Alvat} I_: Waltz, M. D., professor of materia medica. :
F. W. Somers, M. D., professor of materia medica.
E.' H. Jewitt, A. M., M. D, professor of materia medica, the organon
and principles of homceopathy. :
William A. Phillips, M. D., professor of ophthalmology and otology
Byron B. Viets, M. D., O. et A. Chi essot of opht oy
) : ;» M. D., O. et A. Chir., professor of ophthalmology and
otology. B
H. W. Richmond, M. D., clinical professor of obstetrics.
Lester E. Siemon, M. D., professor of obstetrics.
George H. Quay, M. D., clinical professor of rhinology and laryngology.
W. H. Phillips, M. D., professor of rhinology and laryngology. g
L. A. Noble, Ph. G., M. D., professor of chemistry. ;
_ C. M. Thurston, M. D., professor of histology, bacteriology, pathology and
principles of surgery. : :
George W. Jones. M. D., professor and demonstrator of anatomy.
Daniel J. Bryant, M. D., professor of visceral anatomy and clinical in-
structor in surgery. '
B. R. Burgner, M. D, lecturer on anatomy and anzsthetist.
]osephme ‘M._ Danforth, M. D., lecturer on dietetics and clinical in-
structor in pediatrics. :
John P. Sobey, M. D., lecturer on pharmacology.
George R. Wilkins, M. D., lecturer on materia medica.
B 6. B:ons1tee1, M. D., Ph.G., lecturer cn physiological materia medica.
H. D. Fowler, Ph.G., M. D., lecturer on toxicology and pharmacology.
H: I. Staples, B. S., M. D., lecturer on hygiene, state medicine and
obstetrics.
T. 5. Dunlap, lecturer on medical jurisprudence.
_ ' Pauline H. Barton, M. D., lecturer on the theory and practice of med-
icine, and clinical assistant in medicine,
H. R. Clarke, M. D., instructor in physiclogy and clinical instructor in
surgery. :
. F. H. George, B. S., M. D., anzsthetist and instructor in bacteriology,
histology and pathology. ’
R. F. Livermore, M. D., assistant to the chair of gynecology.
H. F. Ryder, M. D.. clinical assistant in gynecology.
Carl V. Schneider, M. D., lecturer on anatomy and clinical instructor in
surgery.
H. Landon Taylor, M. D., clinical assistant in surgery.
Frieda E. Weiss,, M. D., clinical assistant in gynecology.
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Denver H. Patterson, M. D, instructor in electro therapeutics and hydro-
therapy and clinical assistant in medicine.

George H. Benton, M. D., clinical assistant in diagnosis.

Arthur W. King, M. D., clinical assistant in physical diagnosis.

Walter H. Loomis, M. D., clinical assistant in rhinology.

Alice Butler, A. B., M. D, clinical assistant in rhinology.

A. G. Schnabel, demonstrator of histology, pathology and bacteriology.

A noteworthy part of the history of these years is the establishment of
a journal by the college. It was given the name of * Cleveland Medical
and Surgical Reporter,” the same name held by the journal which was pub-
lished in the interests of the college nearly forty years before. The first
year—1899—it was published quarterly, the two following years bi-monthly,
and since 1901 monthly. During all this time Prof. J. Richey Horner has
been its editor. It has attained a wide circulation, not alone among the
alumni of the institution, but is a welcome visitor to many who do not own
the college as their alma mater. It consists of from sixty-four to eighty
pages monthly, and contains articles of interest to the general medical pro-
fession, together with editorials, materia medica notes, excerpts from other
journals, and alumni notes, besides a full quota ‘of general news.

In 1898 the Hahnemann and Dunham societies were united, the Hahne-
mann society, incorporated, being the name given to the mew organization.
This is still active, full of life, and doing its part toward promulgating medical
knowledge among the students.

The Good Samaritan Dispensary, which had been operating for so many
years in connection with the college, was in 1899 completely re-organized
upon a departmental basis. This consisted of dividing the work into depart-
ments -of general medicine, gynecology, genito-urinary diseases, surgery,
ophthalmology, otology and larvngology, pediatrics, physical diagnosis and
neurology. Each of these departments was placed in charge of clinical in-
structors, and the senior class was divided into sections, each section being
assigned work in a department and rotating at the end of each week. In this
way the entire facilities of  the dispensary were utilized. Patients are as-
signed to the proper department, and the student obtains a careful personal
training in the diagnosis and treatment of disease. ]

The liberality of the Cleveland city administration has given to the
homeeopathic profession in the city a part of the work of the Cleveland City
Hospital. We have now a complete homceopathic staff of attending physi-
cians, with three resident physicians to care for the patients assigned to our
school of medicine. The proportion of assignment is one-fourth of all patients
admitted, and these are kept under distinct homceopathic treatment. Omne-
half of the members of the visiting staff are members of the college faculty
and their assignment of work is coincident with the term of the college ses-
sion. The patients are utilized in college instruction; two days each week the
entire senior class being scheduled for work in the hospital, at which time not
only are general clinics held on all branches of medicine and surgery, but a
complete system of bedside instruction is provided. This, of course, adds
much to the value of the training given in the college, nearly doubling its
clinical facilities.

Taken all in all the college is doing better, work to-day than ever before
during its more than haif century of existence. The laboratories are fully




Faculty of the Cleveland Medical College, 1803.

HISTORY OF HOM@TOPATHY 35

equipped, giving instruction which compares favorably with that of the best
aniversities of the country. .

The classes graduating in the respective yvears from 1897 to the present
time are as follows:

CLEVELAND HOMOEOPATHIC MEDICAL COLLEGE.

1897-1898—C. W. Abels, Claude C. Anderson, F. S. Basquin, Harry G.
Bevington ; Albert Carey, W. A. Crecelius, Clara K. Clendon, John S. Cross,
H. L. Davis, Jessie C. Dickerson, J. H. Erskine, H. H. Ewing, A. A. Griffis,
E. W. Gurley, W. B. Glendinning, Arba S. Green, W. T. Gilbert, Edwin E.
Gillard, Ida B. Hambiin, Hugh A. Hagerty, D. Handmacher, Chas. L. Ire-
land, Tomo Inouye, Margaret Johnson, Anna Johnston, Wm. H. James, L.' A.
Jackson, B. B. Kimmel, A. A. LaVigne, J. A. Lytle, Edwin C. Livingston,
Jerry H. Leaming, Thos. Minahan, H. P. Mera, John A. Mellon, George P.
Myers, H. C. Neff, F. C. Newcomb, C. A. Overholt, W. T. Parsons, Lucy L.
Pierce, R. C. Pease, G. C. Radcliffe, Mary D. Ridgway, A. L. Reusing, Alex C.
Smith, J. G. Schild, Standley G. Small, J. S. Steiner, W. W. Smith, C. E.
Silbernagel, Lamont B. Smith, 'E. E. Shannon, J. H. Schneider, Jr., Bert D.
Shedd, Jennie P. Turner, Wm. V. Van Norman, Herbert C. Waite, Wilson
W. Walters, C. E. Watson, Thos. Welch, Albert D. Williams, Mary H.
White. ;

1808-1809—Frank E. Adams, Enos B. Allen, Harry J. Austin, (Ze\N
Banks, Fred C. Bissell, C. E. Bradshaw, Albert J. Brainard, L. M. Bunnell,
Carl J. Cannon, Jay L. Cecil, W. R. Cleave, Sara Davies, Edward B. Doan,
G. W. Ellison, Prudence Fennemann, Chas. M. Ginn, F. B. Groesbeck, 7.
W. Henderson, - John C. Hill, Julia E. Hoover, Harry F. Hunt, Rose F.
Jackson, Phillip M. Johnson, R. O. Keiser, George A. Kreiger, Florence
W. Lyde, R. W. McLain, Augustus W. Mercer, C. L. Moore, Van V. Mor-
gan, Garry Mount, C. H. Murphy, Emma A. Murphy, Mary C. Murphy-
Brightman, Johnson Niles, Isabelle B. Nixon, G. W. O’Grady, J. M. Olin,
James B. Orwig, Albert Porter, W. H. Price, C. J. Richards, J. A. Ruder,
E. J. Schwartz, T. P. Shepherd, Ethel W. Walters, Samuel Warner, Fred
L. Watson, M. H. Westbrook, G. R. Wilkins, Wm. Wilson, C. J. Wright.

1899-1900—DB. R. Burgner, Mrs. Alice Butler, J. A. Black, H. R. Clarke,
F. C. Coombes, 'E. W. Crecelius, H. II. Crum, E. A. Dale, C. A. Fraser,
A. E. Gangloff, T. H. George, J. K. Hamilton, S. Blanche Harpst-Jackson,
J. T. Henderson, Robert Hodgson, W. C. Holbrook, Tsrael S. Milstone, Perry
L. Morgan, J. D. Parker, E. G. Radway, F. N. Richardson, E. T. Smith,
Nina J. Stansbury, O. B. VanEpp, J. J. Waite, R. M. Wallace, C. C. Wright.
1900-1g01—E. O. Willoughby, M. C. Barker, Pauline H. Barton, Elroy
V. Bishop, T. L. Blackledge, R. A. Buchanan, R. A. Case, W. H. Diebel,
J. W. Donaldsen, H. B. Faulder, J. A. Ferree, Robert M. Ganow, J. G. Hem-
ington, G. A. Hildebrand, E. C. Hoff, W. K, Hoffmann, F. C. House, G. E.,
Hull, A. P. Hyde, F. B. Jackson, George W. Jones, J. K. Kiser, C. L. McCoy,
A. A. Mackintosh, A. O. Miller, Mary D. Mumford, G. D. Nicholas, D. H.
Patterson, G. O. Rowland, R. C. Rush, Ida M. Scott, L. F. Sipher, F. H.
Sisley, E. O. Silvieus, G. P. Spaulding, E. T. Tripp, H. D. Wallace, Carl
Watson, H. O. Whitaker.

. 1go1-1902—A. W. Andersen. W. H. Burns, F. R. Carvell, E. W. Dean,
E. E. Esley, R. R. Ewing, C. K. Farber, Edwardena McK. Grant, W. C.
Hirzel, G. H. Irvin, W. J. Jend, J. H. King, Gertrude S. King, W. E.



